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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 
Item 1. Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

HEIDRICK & STRUGGLES INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share amounts)

 

   
June 30,

2011   
December 31,

2010  
   (Unaudited)    
Current assets:    

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 103,078   $ 181,124  
Restricted cash    952    393  
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $6,502 and $6,589 at June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010,

respectively    109,710    83,360  
Other receivables    9,641    7,724  
Prepaid expenses    19,485    15,323  
Other current assets    1,520    1,871  
Income taxes recoverable    14,062    11,912  
Deferred income taxes    11,916    10,759  

    
 

   
 

Total current assets    270,364    312,466  
Non-current assets:    

Property and equipment, net    42,338    34,406  
Restricted cash    1,904    1,609  
Assets designated for retirement and pension plans    25,649    23,647  
Investments    10,189    11,021  
Other non-current assets    9,486    8,593  
Goodwill    115,979    109,888  
Other intangible assets, net    6,065    6,480  
Deferred income taxes    36,509    36,917  

    
 

   
 

Total non-current assets    248,119    232,561  
    

 
   

 

Total assets   $ 518,483   $ 545,027  
    

 
   

 

Current liabilities:    
Accounts payable   $ 11,818   $ 8,408  
Accrued salaries and employee benefits    87,421    124,969  
Other current liabilities    41,013    34,064  
Income taxes payable    2,015    3,208  
Deferred income taxes    1,694    1,807  

    
 

   
 

Total current liabilities    143,961    172,456  
Non-current liabilities:    

Retirement and pension plans    34,147    30,907  
Other non-current liabilities    41,455    47,015  
Deferred income taxes    109    107  

    
 

   
 

Total non-current liabilities    75,711    78,029  
    

 
   

 

Total liabilities    219,672    250,485  
    

 
   

 

Commitments and contingencies (Note 16)    —      —    
Stockholders’ equity:    

Preferred stock, $.01 par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized, no shares issued at June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010,
respectively    —      —    

Common stock, $.01 par value, 100,000,000 shares authorized, 19,585,777 shares issued, 17,839,077 and 17,558,098
shares outstanding at June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively    196    196  

Treasury stock at cost, 1,746,770 and 2,027,679 shares at June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively    (59,790)   (69,549) 
Additional paid in capital    237,479    246,601  
Retained earnings    96,714    99,056  
Accumulated other comprehensive income    24,212    18,238  

    
 

   
 

Total stockholders’ equity    298,811    294,542  
    

 
   

 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity   $ 518,483   $ 545,027  
    

 
   

 

The accompanying notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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HEIDRICK & STRUGGLES INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

(Unaudited)
 

   
Three Months Ended

June 30,   
Six Months Ended

June 30,  
   2011    2010   2011   2010  
Revenue:       

Revenue before reimbursements (net revenue)   $142,799    $126,071   $258,421   $239,739  
Reimbursements    6,815     4,589    12,072    9,275  

    
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Total revenue    149,614     130,660    270,493    249,014  
Operating expenses:       

Salaries and employee benefits    99,219     85,995    187,600    169,125  
General and administrative expenses    33,270     32,854    64,599    62,950  
Other charges    —       —      —      4,218  
Reimbursed expenses    6,815     4,589    12,072    9,275  
Restructuring charges    —       701    —      701  
Other operating income    —       (1,072)   —      (1,072) 

    
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Total operating expenses    139,304     123,067    264,271    245,197  
    

 
    

 
   

 
   

 

Operating income    10,310     7,593    6,222    3,817  
Non-operating income (expense):       

Interest income, net    258     188    553    416  
Other, net    441     (2,448)   (1,674)   (2,394) 

    
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Net non-operating income (expense)    699     (2,260)   (1,121)   (1,978) 
    

 
    

 
   

 
   

 

Income before income taxes    11,009     5,333    5,101    1,839  
Provision for income taxes    3,580     2,661    2,333    713  

    
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Net income   $ 7,429    $ 2,672   $ 2,768   $ 1,126  
    

 
    

 
   

 
   

 

Basic weighted average common shares outstanding    17,803     17,487    17,714    17,337  
Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding    17,955     17,859    17,995    17,896  
Basic earnings per common share   $ 0.42    $ 0.15   $ 0.16   $ 0.06  
Diluted earnings per common share   $ 0.41    $ 0.15   $ 0.15   $ 0.06  
Cash dividends paid per share   $ 0.13    $ 0.13   $ 0.26   $ 0.26  

The accompanying notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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HEIDRICK & STRUGGLES INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

 
                 

Additional
Paid in
Capital  

 

Retained
Earnings  

 Accumulated
Other

Compre-
hensive
Income  

  

Total  

   Common Stock    Treasury Stock       

   Shares    Amount   Shares   Amount       
Balance at December 31, 2010    19,586    $ 196     2,027   $(69,549)  $246,601   $99,056   $ 18,238    $294,542  
Net income    —       —       —      —      —      2,768    —       2,768  
Other comprehensive income:             

Unrealized gain on available for sale investments    —       —       —      —      —      —      353     353  
Foreign currency translation adjustment    —       —       —      —      —      —      5,621     5,621  

    
 

    
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

    
 

Other comprehensive income    —       —       —      —      —      2,768    5,974     8,742  
    

 
    

 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
    

 

Treasury and common stock transactions:             
Stock-based compensation    —       —       —      —      3,310    —      —       3,310  
Vesting of restricted stock units, net of tax witholdings    —       —       (262)   9,104    (11,749)   —      —       (2,645) 
Re-issuance of treasury stock    —       —       (18)   655    (280)   —      —       375  
Cash dividends declared ($0.26 per share)    —       —       —      —      —      (4,632)   —       (4,632) 
Dividend equivalents on restricted stock units    —       —       —      —      —      (478)   —       (478) 
Tax deficit related to stock-based compensation    —       —       —      —      (403)   —      —       (403) 

    
 

    
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

    
 

Balance at June 30, 2011    19,586    $ 196     1,747   $(59,790)  $237,479   $96,714   $ 24,212    $ 298,811  
    

 

    

 

    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

    

 

The accompanying notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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HEIDRICK & STRUGGLES INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

(Unaudited)
 

   
Six Months Ended

June 30,  
   2011   2010  
Cash flows from operating activities:    

Net income   $ 2,768   $ 1,126  
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash used in operating activities:    

Depreciation and amortization    4,311    7,195  
Write-off of investment    2,810    —    
Deferred income taxes    (1,250)   1,055  
Net realized losses on investments    255    233  
Stock-based compensation expense    3,148    4,509  
Other operating income    —      (1,072) 
Allowance for doubtful accounts    (259)   993  
Restructuring charges    —      701  
Cash paid for restructuring charges    (560)   (1,820) 
Changes in assets and liabilities:    

Trade and other receivables    (25,597)   (37,147) 
Accounts payable    2,046    3,193  
Accrued expenses    (41,738)   16,743  
Income taxes payable, net    (3,253)   (2,352) 
Retirement and pension assets and liabilities    582    351  
Prepayments    (3,579)   (2,289) 
Other assets and liabilities, net    (1,333)   309  

    
 

   
 

Net cash used in operating activities    (61,649)   (8,272) 
    

 
   

 

Cash flows from investing activities:    
Restricted cash    (692)   2,762  
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired    —      (554) 
Capital expenditures    (9,787)   (11,409) 
Purchases of available for sale investments    (607)   (434) 
Proceeds from sale of available for sale investments    30    208  
Loan to equity method investment    (1,008)   —    

    
 

   
 

Net cash used in investing activities    (12,064)   (9,427) 
    

 
   

 

Cash flows from financing activities:    
Cash dividends paid    (5,056)   (5,085) 
Payment of employee tax withholdings on equity transactions    (2,749)   (4,546) 

    
 

   
 

Net cash used in financing activities    (7,805)   (9,631) 
    

 
   

 

Effect of exchange rates fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents    3,472    (3,107) 
    

 
   

 

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents    (78,046)   (30,437) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period    181,124    123,030  

    
 

   
 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period   $103,078   $ 92,593  
    

 
   

 

The accompanying notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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HEIDRICK & STRUGGLES INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(All tables in thousands, except share and per share figures)

(Unaudited)

1. Basis of Presentation of Interim Financial Information

The accompanying unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements of Heidrick & Struggles International, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”),
have been prepared pursuant to the rules and regulations of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses. Significant items subject to estimates and assumptions include revenue recognition, allowance for
doubtful accounts, interim effective tax rate, allowances for deferred tax assets, assessment of goodwill and other intangible assets for impairment, compensation
accruals, stock-based compensation, and contingent liabilities. Given that global economies are undergoing a period of continued uncertainty, estimates are
subject to a greater degree of uncertainty than usual and actual results could differ from these estimates. These financial statements and notes are to be read in
conjunction with the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2010, as filed with the SEC on March 16, 2011.

Additionally, the Company revised its prior year Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows to conform to the current year presentation, which had
no effect on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets or Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the prior period presented.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

A complete listing of the Company’s significant accounting policies is discussed in Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, in the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010, as filed with the SEC on
March 16, 2011.

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

On January 1, 2011, the Company adopted guidance which expands the required disclosures about fair value measurements. This guidance requires
disclosures about transfers of investments between levels in the fair value hierarchy and disclosures relating to the reconciliation of fair value measurements using
significant unobservable inputs (level 3 investments). The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial condition or
results of operations.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In June 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued guidance to increase the prominence of other comprehensive income within the financial
statements. The guidance requires entities to present the components of net income and other comprehensive income either in a single continuous statement or in
two separate, but consecutive, statements of net income and other comprehensive income. The option to present other comprehensive income within the statement
of stockholders’ equity will be eliminated. This guidance is effective for the Company as of January 1, 2012 and will be applied retrospectively beginning with
the March 31, 2012 interim reporting period. The Company does not believe adoption of this guidance will have any impact on its financial condition or results of
operations.

3. Stock-based Compensation

The Company measures its stock-based compensation costs based on the grant date fair value of the awards and recognizes these costs in the financial
statements over the requisite service period.
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A summary of information with respect to stock-based compensation is as follows:
 

   
Three Months Ended

June 30,    
Six Months Ended

June 30,  
   2011    2010    2011    2010  
Total stock-based compensation expense included in net income   $ 1,410    $ 1,095    $3,148    $4,509  
Income tax benefit related to stock-based compensation included in net income   $ 596    $ 438    $1,331    $1,804  

Restricted Stock Units

Restricted stock unit activity for the six months ended June 30, 2011:
 

   

Number of
Restricted

Stock Units   

Weighted-
Average

Grant-date
Fair Value  

Outstanding on December 31, 2010    713,394   $ 26.52  
Granted    193,587    25.12  
Vested and converted to common stock    (365,172)   28.68  
Forfeited    (34,524)   26.33  

    
 

 

Outstanding on June 30, 2011    507,285   $ 24.45  
    

 
 

As of June 30, 2011, there was $8.0 million of pre-tax unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested restricted stock units, which is expected to
be recognized over a weighted average of 2.2 years.

Performance Stock Units

Performance stock unit activity for the six months ended June 30, 2011:
 

   

Number of
Performance
Stock Units   

Weighted-
Average

Grant-date
Fair Value  

Outstanding on December 31, 2010    112,523   $ 22.03  
Granted    51,049    27.18  
Vested and converted to common stock    —      —    
Forfeited    (23,342)   23.45  

    
 

 

Outstanding on June 30, 2011    140,230   $ 23.67  
    

 
 

As of June 30, 2011, there was $1.7 million of pre-tax unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested performance stock units, which is expected
to be recognized over a weighted average of 2.1 years.

4. Property and Equipment

The components of the Company’s property and equipment are as follows:
 

   
June 30,

2011   
December 31,

2010  
Leasehold improvements   $ 47,763   $ 41,556  
Office furniture, fixtures and equipment    25,821    23,588  
Computer equipment and software    39,477    35,279  

    
 

   
 

Property and equipment, gross    113,061    100,423  
Accumulated depreciation    (70,723)   (66,017) 

    
 

   
 

Property and equipment, net   $ 42,338   $ 34,406  
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5. Restricted Cash

The Company had $2.9 million and $2.0 million of restricted cash at June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively, in support of lease guarantees. In
accordance with the terms of the lease agreements, the cash balances are restricted through the termination dates of the leases, which extend through 2019.

6. Investments

The components of the Company’s investments are as follows:
 

   
June 30,

2011    
December 31,

2010  
U.S. non-qualified deferred compensation plan   $ 9,425    $ 8,487  
JobKoo    —       1,803  
Warrants and equity securities    764     731  

    
 

    
 

Total   $10,189    $ 11,021  
    

 

    

 

The Company’s U.S. non-qualified deferred compensation plan consists primarily of U.S. marketable securities and mutual funds, all of which are valued
using Level 1 inputs. The aggregate cost basis for these investments was $7.8 million and $7.4 million as of June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively.
The warrants and equity securities primarily consist of cost method investments, none of which were evaluated for impairment since there were no triggering
events in the respective periods.

During the first quarter of 2011, the Company provided a loan to JobKoo in the principal amount of $1.0 million. As a result of JobKoo’s inability to
demonstrate sufficient cash flow to support the recoverability of the investment and loan, the Company wrote-off its $1.8 million investment and $1.0 million
loan during the first quarter of 2011. The write-off is included in non-operating expense-other, net on the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations for the
six months ended June 30, 2011.

7. Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date. A three-level fair value hierarchy prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value. The hierarchy requires entities to maximize the use of
observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The three levels of inputs used to measure fair value are as follows:
 

 •  Level 1 – Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.
 

 
•  Level 2 – Quoted prices in active markets for similar assets and liabilities, or other inputs that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly

or indirectly, for substantially the full term of the financial instrument.
 

 
•  Level 3 – Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets and liabilities.

This includes certain pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies and similar techniques that use significant unobservable inputs.

Substantially all of the Company’s assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis are measured using Level 1 inputs. The Company considers
the recorded value of its financial assets and liabilities, which consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and accounts payable, to
approximate the fair value of the respective assets and liabilities at June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010 based upon the short-term nature of the assets and
liabilities.

8. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by segment for the six months ended June 30, 2011 are as follows:
 

   Americas    Europe    Asia Pacific   Total  
Balance at December 31, 2010   $78,989    $22,982    $ 7,917    $109,888  
Iron Hill earnout adjustment    3,740     —       —       3,740  
Exchange rate fluctuations    163     1,787     401     2,351  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Balance at June 30, 2011   $82,892    $24,769    $ 8,318    $ 115,979  
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In connection with the Company’s 2008 acquisition of Iron Hill, the previous owners, who are now Heidrick & Struggles employees, are eligible to receive
earnout payments up to a total of $4.4 million based on achievement of certain revenue metrics in 2009, 2010 and 2011. As a result of the achievement of these
revenue metrics during the first six months of 2011, the Company accrued an earnout payment of $3.7 million. The Company anticipates accruing additional
earnout payments during the third quarter of 2011 based on the achievement of additional revenue metrics and expects the $3.7 million plus any additional
amounts earned during the third quarter of 2011 will be paid in 2011.

Throughout the six months of 2011, the Company continued to monitor events that could cause an impairment in the fair value of its reporting units. The
Company concluded that an impairment evaluation was not required during the first six months of 2011. The Company will continue to monitor the financial
performance and the fair value of the European reporting unit and if it deteriorates, it could result in the need to record an impairment charge in future periods.

Other Intangible Assets

The carrying amount of amortizable intangible assets and the related accumulated amortization are as follows:
 
       June 30, 2011    December 31, 2010  

   

Weighted
Average

Life
(in years)   

Gross
Carrying
Amount    

Accumulated
Amortization  

Net
Carrying
Amount    

Gross
Carrying
Amount    

Accumulated
Amortization  

Net
Carrying
Amount  

Client relationships    15.0    $19,039    $ (13,367)  $ 5,672    $18,430    $ (12,503)  $ 5,927  
Candidate database    6.0     1,800     (1,425)   375     1,800     (1,275)   525  
Other    7.5     176     (158)   18     204     (176)   28  

    
 

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

    
 

   
 

Total intangible assets    14.5    $21,015    $ (14,950)  $ 6,065    $20,434    $ (13,954)  $ 6,480  
    

 
    

 
    

 
   

 
    

 
    

 
   

 

Intangible asset amortization expense for the three months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 was $0.3 million. Intangible asset amortization expense for the
six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 was $0.6 million and $0.7 million, respectively. The estimated intangible amortization expense is $1.3 million for fiscal
year 2011, $1.1 million for fiscal year 2012, $0.8 million for fiscal year 2013, $0.8 million for fiscal year 2014, and $0.8 million for fiscal year 2015. These
amounts are based on intangible assets recorded as of June 30, 2011, and actual amortization expense could differ from these estimates as a result of future
acquisitions and other factors.

9. Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost

The Company maintains a pension plan for certain employees in Germany. The pensions are individually fixed euro amounts that vary depending on the
function and the eligible years of service of the employee.

The components of net periodic benefit cost are as follows:
 

   
Three Months Ended

June 30,   
Six Months Ended

June 30,  
   2011   2010   2011   2010  
Service cost   $ 39   $ 31   $ 76   $ 65  
Interest cost    314    278    612    577  
Amortization of net gain    (95)   (151)   (185)   (314) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net periodic benefit cost   $ 258   $ 158   $ 503   $ 328  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

The pension benefits are fully reinsured through a group insurance contract with ERGO Lebensversicherung AG. The change in the fair value of these
assets approximates the net periodic benefit cost for the three and six months ended June 30, 2011.
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10. Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Common Share

A reconciliation of the basic and diluted earnings per common share, and the shares used in the computation, are as follows:
 

   
Three Months Ended

June 30,    
Six Months Ended

June 30,  
   2011    2010    2011    2010  
Net income   $ 7,429    $ 2,672    $ 2,768    $ 1,126  
Weighted average common shares outstanding    17,803     17,487     17,714     17,337  
Dilutive common shares    152     372     281     559  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Weighted average diluted common shares outstanding    17,955     17,859     17,995     17,896  
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 

Basic earnings per common share   $ 0.42    $ 0.15    $ 0.16    $ 0.06  
Diluted earnings per common share   $ 0.41    $ 0.15    $ 0.15    $ 0.06  

Options to purchase 0.1 million and 0.4 million shares of common stock that were outstanding at June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively, were excluded from
the respective computations of diluted earnings per share as the exercise prices of these options were greater than the average market price of the common shares.

11. Restructuring Charges

The accrued restructuring charges at June 30, 2011 consist of employee-related costs that require cash payments based on individual severance agreements
and real estate leases that require cash payments through the lease terms reduced by sublease income. Based on current estimates, the Company expects that cash
outlays over the next twelve months related to restructuring charges accrued at June 30, 2011 will be $0.4 million, with the remainder payable over the remaining
lease terms of the vacated properties, which extend through 2016.

Changes in the accrual for restructuring charges for the six months ended June 30, 2011 are as follows:
 

   
Employee
Related   

Office
Related   Total  

Accrual balance at December 31, 2010   $ 315   $2,082   $2,397  
Cash payments    (195)   (365)   (560) 
Exchange rate fluctuations    6    28    34  

    
 

   
 

   
 

Accrual balance at June 30, 2011   $ 126   $1,745   $1,871  
    

 
   

 
   

 

12. Other Current and Non-Current Liabilities

The components of other current liabilities are as follows:
 

   
June 30,

2011    
December 31,

2010  
Deferred revenue   $21,558    $ 16,639  
Earnout payments    4,127     363  
Sales and value-added taxes    3,054     4,744  
Dividend payable    2,320     2,283  
Accounting and legal fees    1,862     1,927  
Pension liability    1,519     1,401  
Premise related costs    1,356     920  
Restructuring charges    423     850  
Other    4,794     4,937  

    
 

    
 

Total other current liabilities   $41,013    $ 34,064  
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The components of other non-current liabilities are as follows:
 

   
June 30,

2011    
December 31,

2010  
Accrued salaries and employee benefits   $21,855    $ 26,084  
Premise related costs    14,356     15,240  
Restructuring charges    1,448     1,549  
Earnout payments    371     759  
Other    3,425     3,383  

    
 

    
 

Total other non-current liabilities   $41,455    $ 47,015  
    

 
    

 

13. Income Taxes

In the second quarter of 2011, the Company reported income before taxes of $11.0 million and recorded an income tax provision of $3.6 million. The
Company’s effective income tax rate for the second quarter of 2011 was 32.5%, which reflects an adjusted full-year expected annualized tax rate of approximately
46 percent, up from the first quarter 2011 adjusted full-year expected annualized tax rate of approximately 37 percent. The increase in the anticipated full-year
annualized tax rate from the first quarter is primarily due to a change in the projection and mix of income earned worldwide.

For the first six months of 2011, the Company reported income before taxes of $5.1 million and recorded an income tax provision of $2.3 million. The
Company’s effective income tax rate for the six months ended June 30, 2011 was 45.7%, up from a tax benefit rate in the first quarter of 21.1%. The change to the
tax rate from the first quarter was a result of a change in the projection and mix of income earned worldwide.

In the second quarter of 2010, the Company reported income before taxes of $5.3 million and recorded an income tax provision of $2.7 million. The
Company’s effective income tax rate for the second quarter of 2010 was 49.9%.

For the first six months of 2010, the Company reported income before taxes of $1.8 million and recorded an income tax provision of $0.7 million. The
Company’s effective income tax rate for the six months ended June 30, 2010 was 38.8%.

14. Segment Information

The Company operates its executive search and leadership consulting services in three geographic regions: the Americas; Europe, which includes the
Middle East and Africa; and Asia Pacific.

For segment purposes, reimbursements of out-of-pocket expenses classified as revenue, restructuring charges and other operating income are reported
separately and, therefore, are not included in the results of each geographic region. The Company believes that analyzing trends in revenue before
reimbursements (net revenue) and operating income (loss) excluding restructuring charges and other operating income more appropriately reflects the Company’s
core operations. In the second quarter of 2010, restructuring charges of $0.7 million were recorded in the Americas region and other operating income of $1.1
million was recorded in the European region.

Certain prior year figures, provided for the purposes of comparison, have been adjusted to conform to the current year’s presentation.
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The revenue, operating income (loss), depreciation, and capital expenditures, by segment, are as follows:
 

   
Three Months Ended

June 30,   
Six Months Ended

June 30,  
   2011   2010   2011   2010  
Revenue:      

Americas   $ 76,745   $ 65,062   $140,222   $122,576  
Europe    34,512    31,721    62,078    64,524  
Asia Pacific    31,542    29,288    56,121    52,639  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Revenue before reimbursements (net revenue)    142,799    126,071    258,421    239,739  
Reimbursements    6,815    4,589    12,072    9,275  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total   $149,614   $130,660   $270,493   $249,014  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Operating income (loss):      
Americas   $ 18,729   $ 13,822   $ 26,377   $ 18,222  
Europe    (2,365)   486    (4,422)   (3,504) 
Asia Pacific    4,863    7,051    7,405    10,372  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total regions    21,227    21,359    29,360    25,090  
Global Operations Support    (10,917)   (14,137)   (23,138)   (21,644) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Operating income before restructuring charges and other operating income    10,310    7,222    6,222    3,446  
Restructuring charges    —      (701)   —      (701) 
Other operating income    —      1,072    —      1,072  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total   $ 10,310   $ 7,593   $ 6,222   $ 3,817  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Depreciation:      
Americas   $ 932   $ 803   $ 1,691   $ 1,764  
Europe    512    564    1,018    2,953  
Asia Pacific    261    493    608    1,056  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total regions    1,705    1,860    3,317    5,773  
Global Operations Support    177    33    351    63  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total   $ 1,882   $ 1,893   $ 3,668   $ 5,836  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Capital expenditures:      
Americas   $ 2,761   $ 1,853   $ 4,475   $ 2,463  
Europe    1,512    6,426    2,272    8,513  
Asia Pacific    325    223    920    352  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total regions    4,598    8,502    7,667    11,328  
Global Operations Support    762    40    2,120    81  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total   $ 5,360   $ 8,542   $ 9,787   $ 11,409  
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Identifiable assets, and goodwill and other intangible assets, net, by segment, are as follows:
 

   
June 30,

2011    
December 31,

2010  
Identifiable assets:     

Americas   $273,572    $ 279,096  
Europe    134,922     142,145  
Asia Pacific    105,330     120,011  

    
 

    
 

Total regions    513,824     541,252  
Global Operations Support    4,659     3,775  

    
 

    
 

Total   $518,483    $ 545,027  
    

 
    

 

Goodwill and other intangible assets, net:     
Americas   $ 85,882    $ 82,353  
Europe    27,431     25,657  
Asia Pacific    8,731     8,358  

    
 

    
 

Total   $122,044    $ 116,368  
    

 
    

 

15. Guarantees

The Company has issued guarantees supporting the payment of office lease obligations for certain of its subsidiaries in Europe and Asia Pacific. The
guarantees were made to secure the respective lease agreements and are for the terms of the lease agreements, which extend through 2019. For each guarantee
issued, should the subsidiary default on a lease payment, the Company would have to perform under the guarantee. The maximum amount of undiscounted
payments the Company would be required to make in the event of default on all outstanding guarantees is approximately $2.9 million as of June 30, 2011. The
Company has not accrued for these guarantee arrangements as no event of default exists or is expected to exist.

16. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company has contingent liabilities from various pending claims and litigation matters arising in the ordinary course of the Company’s business, some
of which involve claims for damages that may be substantial in amount. Some of these matters are covered by insurance. Although the Company’s ultimate
liability in the matter discussed below cannot be determined, based upon information currently available, the Company believes the ultimate resolution of such
claims and litigation will not have a material adverse effect on its financial condition, results of operations or liquidity.

UK Employee Benefits Trust

On January 27, 2010, HM Revenue & Customs (“HMRC”) in the United Kingdom notified the Company that it was challenging the tax treatment of
certain of the Company’s contributions in the United Kingdom to an Employee Benefits Trust between 2002 and 2008. HMRC alleges that these contributions
should have been subject to Pay As You Earn tax and Class 1 National Insurance Contributions in the United Kingdom; and HMRC is proposing an adjustment to
the Company’s payroll tax liability for the affected years. The aggregate amount of HMRC’s proposed adjustment is approximately £3.9 million (equivalent to
$6.3 million at June 30, 2011). The Company has appealed the proposed adjustment. At this time, the Company believes that the likelihood of an unfavorable
outcome with respect to the proposed adjustment is not probable and the potential amount of any loss cannot be reasonably estimated. The Company also believes
that the amount of any final adjustment would not be material to the Company’s financial condition.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations as well as other sections of this quarterly report on Form 10-Q
contain forward-looking statements. The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 provides a safe harbor for forward-looking statements. The forward-
looking statements are based on current expectations, estimates, forecasts and projections about the industry in which we operate and management’s beliefs and
assumptions. Forward-looking statements may be identified by the use of words such as “expects,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “plans,” “believes,” “seeks,”
“estimates,” “projects,” “forecasts,” and similar expressions. Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and involve certain known
and unknown risks, uncertainties and assumptions that are difficult to predict. Actual outcomes and results may differ materially from what is expressed,
forecasted or implied in the forward-looking statements. Factors that may affect the outcome of the forward-looking statements include, among other things: our
ability to attract and retain qualified executive search consultants; our ability to develop and maintain strong, long-term relationships with our clients; further
declines in the global economy and our ability to execute successfully through business cycles; the timing, speed or robustness of any future economic recovery;
social or political instability in markets where we operate, the impact of foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations; price competition; the ability to forecast, on
a quarterly basis, variable compensation accruals that ultimately are determined based on the achievement of annual results; our ability to realize our tax losses;
the timing of the establishment or reversal of valuation allowance on deferred tax assets; the mix of profit and loss by country; an impairment of our goodwill and
other intangible assets; delays in the development and/or implementation of new or improved technology and systems; and the ability to align our cost structure
and headcount with net revenue. For more information on the factors that could affect the outcome of forward-looking statements, refer to our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010 under Risk Factors in Item 1A. We undertake no obligation to update publicly any forward-looking statements,
whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

Executive Overview

Our Business

We are a leadership advisory firm providing executive search and leadership consulting services. We help our clients build leadership teams by facilitating
the recruitment, management and deployment of senior executives. Focusing on top-level services offers us several advantages that include access to and
influence with key decision makers, increased potential for recurring search and consulting engagements, higher fees per search, enhanced brand visibility, and
leveraged global footprint, which create added barriers to entry for potential competitors. Working at the top of client organizations also allows us to attract and
retain high-caliber consultants.

In addition to executive search, we provide a range of leadership consulting services to clients. These services include succession planning, executive
assessment, talent retention management, executive development, transition consulting for newly appointed executives, and mergers and acquisitions human
capital integration consulting.

We provide our services to a broad range of clients through the expertise of 386 consultants located in major cities around the world. Our executive search
services are provided on a retained basis. Revenue before reimbursements of out-of-pocket expenses (“net revenue”) consists of retainers and indirect expenses
billed to clients. Typically, we are paid a retainer for our executive search services equal to approximately one-third of the estimated first year compensation for
the position to be filled. In addition, if the actual compensation of a placed candidate exceeds the estimated compensation, we often are authorized to bill the
client for one-third of the excess. Indirect expenses are calculated as a percentage of the retainer with certain dollar limits per search.

Key Performance Indicators

We manage and assess Heidrick & Struggles’ performance through various means, with the primary financial and operational measures including net
revenue growth, operating income, operating margin, consultant headcount, confirmation trends, consultant productivity, and average revenue per search or
project.

Revenue growth is driven by a combination of an increase in executive search wins and leadership consulting projects, higher consultant productivity,
higher average revenue per search or project and the hiring of additional consultants. With the exception of compensation expense, incremental increases in
revenue do not necessarily result in proportionate increases in costs, particularly operating and administrative expenses, thus potentially improving operating
margins.

The number of consultants, confirmation trends, number of searches or projects completed, productivity levels and the average revenue per search or
project will vary from quarter to quarter, affecting revenue growth and operating margin.
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Our Compensation Model

At the consultant level, individuals are largely rewarded for their performance based on a system that directly ties a significant portion of their
compensation to the amount of net revenue for which they are responsible. Credit towards the variable portion of a consultant’s compensation is earned by
generating net revenue for winning and executing work. Additionally, a portion of the rewards is based upon individual performance against a series of non-
financial measures. Each quarter, we review and update the expected annual performance of all consultants and accrue variable compensation accordingly. The
amount of variable compensation that is accrued for each consultant is based on a tiered payout model and adjusted for overall Company performance. The more
net revenue that is generated by the consultant, the higher the percentage credited towards the consultant’s variable compensation and thus, accrued by our
company as expense. The mix of individual consultants who generate the revenue can significantly affect the total amount of compensation expense recorded and
thus, operating margins. As a result, the variable portion of the compensation expense may fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter. The total variable
compensation is discretionary and is based on company-wide profitability targets approved by the Human Resources and Compensation Committee of the Board
of Directors.

A portion of our consultants’ and management cash bonuses are deferred and paid ratably over a three-year vesting period. The portion of the bonus that is
deferred varies between 10% and 15% depending on the employee’s level or position. The compensation expense related to the amounts being deferred is
recognized on a graded vesting attribution method over the requisite service period. This service period begins on January 1 of the respective fiscal year and
continues through the deferral date, which coincides with our bonus payments in the first quarter of the following year, and for an additional three year vesting
period. The deferrals vest and are paid ratably over the three year vesting period and are recorded in accrued salaries and employee benefits and other non-current
liabilities in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.

2011 Outlook

We are currently forecasting 2011 net revenue of $515 million to $545 million and an operating margin of 6 to 8 percent.

Results of Operations

The following table summarizes, for the periods indicated, the results of our operations as a percentage of revenue before reimbursements (net revenue):
 

   
Three Months Ended

June 30,   
Six Months Ended

June 30,  
   2011   2010   2011   2010  
Revenue:      

Revenue before reimbursements (net revenue)    100.0%   100.0%   100.0%   100.0% 
Reimbursements    4.8    3.6    4.7    3.9  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total revenue    104.8    103.6    104.7    103.9  
Operating expenses (income):      

Salaries and employee benefits    69.5    68.2    72.6    70.5  
General and administrative expenses    23.3    26.1    25.0    26.3  
Other charges    —      —      —      1.8  
Reimbursements    4.8    4    4.7    3.9  
Restructuring charges    —      0.6    —      0.3  
Other operating income    —      (0.9)   —      (0.4) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total operating expenses    97.6    97.6    102.3    102.3  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Operating income    7.2    6.0    2.4    1.6  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Non-operating income (expense):      
Interest income, net    0.2    0.2    0.2    0.2  
Other, net    0.3    (2.0)   (0.6)   (1.0) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net non-operating income (expense)    0.5    (1.8)   (0.4)   (0.8) 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Income before income taxes    7.7    4.2    2.0    0.8  
Provision for income taxes    2.5    2.1    0.9    0.3  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net income    5.2%   2.1%   1.1%   0.5% 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Note: Totals and sub-totals may not equal the sum of individual line items due to rounding.
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We operate our executive search and leadership consulting services in three geographic regions: the Americas; Europe, which includes the Middle East and
Africa; and Asia Pacific.

For segment purposes, reimbursements of out-of-pocket expenses classified as revenue, restructuring charges, and other operating income are reported
separately and, therefore, are not included in the results of each geographic region. We believe that analyzing trends in revenue before reimbursements (net
revenue), operating expenses as a percentage of net revenue, and operating income (loss) excluding restructuring charges and other operating income, more
appropriately reflects our core operations. In the second quarter of 2010, restructuring charges of $0.7 million were recorded in the Americas region and other
operating income of $1.1 million was recorded in the European region.

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, our revenue and operating income by segment (in thousands):
 

   
Three Months Ended

June 30,   
Six Months Ended

June 30,  
   2011   2010   2011   2010  
Revenue:      

Americas   $ 76,745   $ 65,062   $140,222   $122,576  
Europe    34,512    31,721    62,078    64,524  
Asia Pacific    31,542    29,288    56,121    52,639  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Revenue before reimbursements (net revenue)    142,799    126,071    258,421    239,739  
Reimbursements    6,815    4,589    12,072    9,275  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total   $149,614   $130,660   $270,493   $249,014  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Operating income (loss):      
Americas   $ 18,729   $ 13,822   $ 26,377   $ 18,222  
Europe    (2,365)   486    (4,422)   (3,504) 
Asia Pacific    4,863    7,051    7,405    10,372  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total regions    21,227    21,359    29,360    25,090  
Global Operations Support    (10,917)   (14,137)   (23,138)   (21,644) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Operating income before restructuring charges and other operating income    10,310    7,222    6,222    3,446  
Restructuring charges    —      (701)   —      (701) 
Other operating income    —      1,072    —      1,072  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total   $ 10,310   $ 7,593   $ 6,222   $ 3,817  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Three Months Ended June 30, 2011 Compared to the Three Months Ended June 30, 2010

Total revenue. Consolidated total revenue increased $18.9 million, or 14.5%, to $149.6 million in 2011 from $130.7 million in 2010. The increase in total
revenue was due primarily to the increase in revenue before reimbursements (net revenue).

Revenue before reimbursements (net revenue). Consolidated net revenue increased $16.7 million, or 13.3%, to $142.8 million for the three months ended
June 30, 2011 from $126.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2010. The positive impact of exchange rate fluctuations resulted in approximately 6
percentage points of the increase. Net revenue increased in all regions with strong performance from the Industrial and Consumer practices. The number of
confirmed executive searches increased 12.4% compared to the second quarter of 2010. The number of consultants was 386 as of June 30, 2011 compared to 343
as of June 30, 2010. Productivity, as measured by annualized net revenue per consultant, was $1.5 million in the second quarter of 2011 compared to $1.4 million
in the second quarter of 2010, and average revenue per executive search was $107,400 in the 2011 second quarter compared to $108,600 in the 2010 second
quarter.

Net revenue in the Americas was $76.7 million for the three months ended June 30, 2011, an increase of $11.6 million, or 18.0%, from $65.1 million in the
second quarter of 2010. Net revenue in Europe was $34.5 million for the three months ended June 30, 2011, an increase of $2.8 million, or 8.8%, from $31.7
million in the second quarter of 2010. The positive impact of exchange rate fluctuations offset a decrease in net revenue by approximately 12 percentage points in
the second quarter of 2011. In Asia Pacific, net revenue was $31.5 million for the three months ended June 30, 2011, an increase of $2.2 million, or 7.7%, from
$29.3 million in the second quarter of 2010. The positive impact of exchange rate fluctuations offset a decrease in net revenue by approximately 11 percentage
points in the second quarter of 2011.

Salaries and employee benefits. Consolidated salaries and employee benefits expense increased $13.2 million, or 15.4%, to $99.2 million for the three
months ended June 30, 2011 from $86.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2010. The
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increase in salaries and employee benefits expense is primarily a result of an increase in fixed compensation of $7.2 million related to a $5.0 million increase in
base compensation and payroll taxes primarily associated with a 12.8% increase in worldwide headcount and merit salary increases and a $1.7 million increase in
related payroll expenses including insurance and retirement benefits. At June 30, 2011 we had 1,615 total employees, compared to 1,432 total employees as of
June 30, 2010. For the three months ended June 30, 2011, amortization of deferred cash compensation increased $1.1 million as a result of the deferral of cash
bonuses earned in 2010 and other compensation expense increased $0.2 million. These increases were offset by a decrease of $0.8 million associated with special
recognition awards issued in the second quarter of 2010.

Performance-related compensation expense increased $6.0 million from the same period in 2010 reflecting an increase in accruals for variable
compensation associated with higher net revenue.

Excluding a negative impact of $5.5 million due to exchange rate fluctuations, which we believe provides a better comparison of operational performance,
consolidated salaries and employee benefits expense increased by 9.0% in the second quarter of 2011 versus an increase of 15.4% as reported in the second
quarter of 2011.

As a percentage of net revenue, salaries and employee benefits expense was 69.5% in the second quarter of 2011, compared to 68.2% in the second quarter
of 2010.

General and administrative expenses. Consolidated general and administrative expenses increased $0.4 million, or 1.3%, to $33.3 million for the three
months ended June 30, 2011 from $32.9 million for the three months ended June 30, 2010. The increase reflects fees for professional services of $1.5 million
associated with the outsourcing of a portion of our information technology, tax and internal audit functions and $0.7 million associated with the ongoing
development of our internal search system, offset by a $0.7 million decline in professional fees related to a process improvement project that was completed in the
first quarter of 2011.

Additionally, we incurred increases of $1.7 million in travel expenses related to training and business development initiatives, $0.6 million in corporate
sponsorships and contributions, and $0.4 million in other general operating expenses, infrastructure and bad debt expense. These increases were offset by non-
recurring expenses incurred in the second quarter of 2010 including $2.5 million associated with a worldwide partners’ meeting and impairment charges of $0.7
million associated with intangible assets related to our Schwab Enterprise, LLC, 75 Search Partners, LLC and Ray and Berndtson Sp. z o. o acquisitions. Premise-
related and depreciation expenses decreased $0.6 million in the second quarter of 2011.

Excluding a negative impact of $1.5 million due to exchange rate fluctuations, which we believe provides a better comparison of operational performance,
consolidated general and administrative expenses decreased $1.1 million or 3.4% in the second quarter of 2011 versus an increase of 1.3% as reported in the
second quarter of 2011.

As a percentage of net revenue, general and administrative expenses were 23.3% in the second quarter of 2011 compared to 26.1% in the second quarter of
2010.

Restructuring charges. During the second quarter of 2010, one of our subtenants defaulted on its sublease at a previously restructured office. As a result,
we revised our estimated remaining obligation for this lease and recorded a restructuring charge of $0.7 million in the Americas region.

Other operating income. As a result of lower than expected 2010 revenue production from consultants acquired in the Ray and Berndtson Sp. z o. o
acquisition and uncertainty regarding their future performance, we performed a fair value assessment of the potential future earnout payments under the purchase
agreement. This assessment indicated that there would not be any future earnout payments and resulted in a $1.1 million adjustment in the second quarter of 2010.

Operating income. Consolidated operating income was $10.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2011 and $7.6 million for the three months ended
June 30, 2010. The increase in operating income is primarily due to an increase in net revenue of $16.7 million, a decrease in restructuring charges of $0.7
million, offset by an increase in salaries and employee benefits expense of $13.2 million, other operating income of $1.1 million, and an increase in general and
administrative expenses of $0.4 million.

For segment purposes, restructuring charges and other operating income are not included in operating income (loss) by geographic region. We believe that
analyzing trends in operating income (loss) excluding restructuring charges and other operating income more appropriately reflects our core operations.

In the Americas, operating income for the three months ended June 30, 2011 increased $4.9 million to $18.7 million from $13.8 million for the three
months ended June 30, 2010. The increase is due to higher net revenue of $11.7 million, offset by increases in salaries and employee benefits expense of $6.3
million and general and administrative expenses of $0.5 million. The increase in salaries and employee benefits expense primarily reflects an increase in accruals
for variable compensation associated with higher net revenue levels.

In Europe, operating income (loss) for the three months ended June 30, 2011 decreased $2.9 million to a $2.4 million operating loss from $0.5 million of
operating income for the three months ended June 30, 2010. The decrease is due to increases in salaries and employee benefits expense of $5.0 million and
general and administrative expenses of $0.7 million
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partially offset by higher net revenue of $2.8 million. The increase in salaries and employee benefits expense primarily reflects increased base compensation and
payroll taxes associated with a 7.7% increase in total employee headcount in the second quarter ended June 30, 2011.

In Asia Pacific, operating income for the three months ended June 30, 2011 decreased $2.1 million to $4.9 million from $7.0 million for the three months
ended June 30, 2010. The decrease is due to increases in salaries and employee benefits expense of $3.4 million and general and administrative expenses of $1.0
million offset by higher net revenue of $2.3 million. The increase in salaries and employee benefits expense primarily reflects increased base compensation and
payroll taxes associated with an 18.7% increase in total employee headcount and severance of $0.4 million.

Global Operations Support expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2011 decreased $3.2 million or 22.8% to $10.9 million from $14.1 million for the
three months ended June 30, 2010. General and administrative expenses decreased $1.8 million and salaries and employee benefits expense decreased $1.4
million. The decrease in general and administrative expenses is primarily due to non-recurring expenses incurred in the second quarter of 2010, including $2.5
million related to a worldwide partners’ meeting, and a $0.7 million decline in fees for professional services related to a process improvement project that was
completed in the first quarter of 2011, partially offset by increases of $0.9 million in travel and entertainment expenses, $0.8 million in fees for professional
services associated with the outsourcing of a portion of our tax and internal audit functions and $0.3 million in other general operating and infrastructure
expenses. The decrease in compensation expense is primarily due to a $0.8 million decrease in severance expense in the second quarter of 2011 compared to the
second quarter of 2010.

Net non-operating income (expense). Net non-operating income was $0.7 million for the three months ended June 30, 2011 compared to net non-operating
expense of $2.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2010.

Net interest income was $0.3 million in the second quarter of 2011 compared to $0.2 million in the second quarter of 2010. Interest income increased
primarily due to higher cash balances during the second quarter 2011 compared to the second quarter 2010.

Net other non-operating income was $0.4 million for the three months ended June 30, 2011, compared to $2.4 million of expense for the three months
ended June 30, 2010. Net other non-operating expense consists of exchange gains and losses on cash and intercompany balances, which are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency and are not considered permanent in nature. During the second quarter of 2010, we identified that we were not
properly accounting for our non-controlling interest associated with our operations in China. As a result, we recorded a cumulative adjustment of $1.1 million in
net other non-operating expense.

Income taxes. In the second quarter of 2011, we reported income before taxes of $11.0 million and recorded an income tax provision of $3.6 million. Our
effective income tax rate for the second quarter of 2011 was 32.5%, which reflects an adjusted full-year expected annualized tax rate of approximately 46 percent,
up from the first quarter 2011 adjusted full-year expected annualized tax rate of approximately 37 percent. The increase in the anticipated full-year annualized tax
rate from the first quarter is primarily due to a change in the projection and mix of income earned worldwide.

In the second quarter of 2010, we reported income before taxes of $5.3 million and recorded an income tax provision of $2.7 million. Our effective income
tax rate for the second quarter of 2010 was 49.9%.

Six Months Ended June 30, 2011 Compared to the Six Months Ended June 30, 2010

Total revenue. Consolidated total revenue increased $21.5 million, or 8.6%, to $270.5 million in 2011 from $249.0 million in 2010. The increase in total
revenue was due primarily to the increase in revenue before reimbursements (net revenue).

Revenue before reimbursements (net revenue). Consolidated net revenue increased $18.7 million, or 7.8%, to $258.4 million for the six months ended
June 30, 2011 from $239.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2010. The positive impact of exchange rate fluctuations resulted in approximately 4
percentage points of the increase. Net revenue increased in the Americas and Asia Pacific with strong performance in the Industrial and Consumer practices. The
number of confirmed executive searches increased 5.4% compared to the six months ended 2010. The number of consultants was 386 as of June 30, 2011
compared to 343 as of June 30, 2010. Productivity, as measured by annualized net revenue per consultant, increased to $1.4 million in the six months ended 2011
from $1.3 million in the six months ended 2010, and average revenue per executive search was $104,500 for the six months ended June 30, 2011 compared to
$103,500 in for the six months ended June 30, 2010.

Net revenue in the Americas was $140.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2011, an increase of $17.6 million, or 14.4%, from $122.6 million for
the six months ended June 30, 2010. Net revenue in Europe was $62.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2011, a decrease of $2.4 million, or 3.8%, from
$64.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2010. The positive impact of exchange rate fluctuations reduced the decrease in net revenue in Europe by
approximately 6 percentage points for the six months ended 2011. In Asia Pacific, net revenue was $56.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2011, an
increase of $3.5 million, or 6.6%, from $52.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2010. The positive impact of exchange rate fluctuations increased net
revenue in Asia Pacific by approximately 9 percentage points for the six months ended June 30, 2011.
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Salaries and employee benefits. Consolidated salaries and employee benefits expense increased $18.5 million, or 10.9%, to $187.6 million for the six
months ended June 30, 2011 from $169.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2010. The increase in salaries and employee benefits expense is primarily a
result of an increase in fixed compensation of $12.8 million related to a $8.1 million increase in base compensation and payroll taxes associated with an 12.8%
increase in worldwide headcount and merit salary increases, a $1.2 million increase in retirement, insurance and other bonus expense, and $0.8 million of expense
associated with special recognition awards issued in the second quarter of 2010. For the six months ended June 30, 2011, amortization of deferred cash
compensation increased $2.9 million as a result of the cash bonuses earned in 2010 that have been deferred. Severance expense increased $1.0 million, partially
offset by a decrease in stock-based compensation expense of $1.2 million as a result of an overall decrease in the amount of equity awards granted in the six
months ended June 30, 2011 compared to the same period in 2010. At June 30, 2011 we had 1,615 total employees, compared to 1,432 total employees as of
June 30, 2010.

For the six months ended June 30, 2011, performance-related compensation expense increased $5.7 million due to an increase in accruals for variable
compensation due to an increase in net revenue.

Excluding a negative impact of $7.4 million due to exchange rate fluctuations, which we believe provides a better comparison of operational performance,
consolidated salaries and employee benefits expense increased by approximately 7 percent in the six months ended June 30, 2011 versus 10.9% as reported in the
six months ended June 30, 2011.

As a percentage of net revenue, salaries and employee benefits expense was 72.6% in the first six months of 2011, compared to 70.5% in the first six
months of 2010.

General and administrative expenses. Consolidated general and administrative expenses increased $1.6 million, or 2.6%, to $64.6 million for the six
months ended June 30, 2011 from $63.0 million for the six months ended June 30, 2010. The increase reflects fees for professional services of $3.1 million
associated with the outsourcing of a portion of our information technology, tax and internal audit functions, $1.7 million associated with the development of our
internal search system and $0.4 million of other professional fees, partially offset by a $1.4 million decline in professional fees related to a process improvement
project that was completed in the first quarter of 2011.

Additionally, we incurred increases of $1.8 million in travel expenses related to training and business development initiatives, $1.6 million in
communication, advertising and corporate sponsorship expense and $0.5 million in other general operating and infrastructure expense, which were partially offset
by non-recurring expenses incurred in the second quarter of 2010 including $2.5 million associated with a worldwide partners’ meeting and impairment charges
of $0.7 million associated with intangible assets related to our Schwab Enterprise, LLC, 75 Search Partners, LLC and Ray and Berndtson Sp. z o. o acquisitions.
Premise-related and depreciation expenses decreased $2.9 million in six months ended June 30, 2011 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2010.

Excluding a negative impact of $2.1 million due to exchange rate fluctuations, which we believe provides a better comparison of operational performance,
consolidated general and administrative expenses decreased by approximately one percent in the six months ended June 30, 2011 versus 2.6% as reported in the
six months ended June 30, 2011.

As a percentage of net revenue, general and administrative expenses were 25.0% in the first six months of 2011, compared to 26.3% in the first six months
of 2010.

Other charges. The other charges of $4.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2010 consisted of $3.2 million of accelerated occupancy costs and
depreciation, dilapidation costs, and professional fees related to the settlement of our lease obligations with our former London office which we vacated and $1.0
million due to an unfavorable judgment in a lawsuit filed by a former European employee separated from us in 2006.

Restructuring charges. During the six months ended June 30, 2010, one of our subtenants defaulted on its sublease at a previously restructured office. As a
result, we revised our estimated remaining obligation for this lease and recorded an additional restructuring charge of $0.7 million in the Americas region.

Other operating income. As a result of continued lower than expected 2010 revenue production from consultants acquired in the Ray and Berndtson Sp. z
o. o acquisition and uncertainty regarding their future performance, we performed a fair value assessment of the potential future earnout payments under the
purchase agreement. This assessment indicated that there would not be any future earnout payments and resulted in a $1.1 million adjustment in the second
quarter of 2010.

Operating income (loss). Our consolidated operating income was $6.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2011 and $3.8 million for the six months
ended June 30, 2010. The increase in operating income is primarily due to an increase in net revenue of $18.7 million, and decreases in other charges of $4.2
million and in restructuring charges of $0.7 million, offset by an increase in salaries and employee benefits expense of $18.5 million, other operating income of
$1.1 million, and an increase in general and administrative expenses of $1.6 million.

For segment purposes, restructuring charges and other operating income are not included in operating income (loss) by geographic region. We believe that
analyzing trends in operating income (loss) excluding restructuring charges and other operating income more appropriately reflects our core operations.
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The Americas reported operating income of $26.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2011 compared to operating income of $18.2 million for the
six months ended June 30, 2010. The increase of $8.2 million is due to higher net revenue of $17.6 million, offset by an $8.9 million increase in salaries and
employee benefits expense and a $0.5 million increase in general and administrative expenses.

Europe reported an operating loss of $4.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2011, compared to an operating loss of $3.5 million for the six months
ended June 30, 2010. The increase in the operating loss is due to increases in salaries and employee benefits expense of $3.8 million and a decrease in revenue of
$2.4 million, partially offset by a decrease in general and administrative expenses of $1.1 million. The increase in salaries and employee benefits expense
primarily reflects increased base compensation and fixed employee related payroll costs associated with a 7.7% increase in total employee headcount in the six
months ended June 30, 2011. Additionally, the six months ended June 30, 2010 included $4.2 million of other charges, consisting of $3.2 million of accelerated
occupancy costs and depreciation, dilapidation costs, and professional fees related to the settlement of our lease obligations with our former London office which
we vacated and $1.0 million due to an unfavorable judgment in a lawsuit filed by a former European employee separated from us in 2006.

Asia Pacific reported operating income of $7.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2011, a decrease of $3.0 million compared to operating income of
$10.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2010. The decrease is due to a $4.1 million increase in salaries and employee benefits expense and a $2.4 million
increase in general and administrative expenses partially offset by higher net revenue of $3.5 million. The increase in salaries and employee benefits expense
primarily reflects increased base compensation and payroll taxes associated with an 18.7% increase in total employee headcount and merit increases and
severance expense of $0.4 million.

Global Operations Support expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2011 were $23.1 million, an increase of $1.5 million, compared to $21.6 million for
the six months ended June 30, 2010. Salaries and employee benefits expense increased $1.6 million offset by a decrease in general and administrative expenses of
$0.1 million. The increase in compensation expense is primarily due to increased base compensation and variable compensation expense. The decrease in general
and administrative expenses is primarily due to non-recurring expenses incurred in the second quarter of 2010, including $2.5 million related to a worldwide
partners’ meeting, and a $1.4 million decline in fees for professional services related to a process improvement project that was completed in the first quarter of
2011, offset by increases of $1.3 million in fees for professional services associated with the outsourcing of a portion of our tax and internal audit departments,
$1.1 million in travel and entertainment expenses, $0.9 million in other fees for professional services and $0.5 million in other operating and infrastructure
expenses.

Net non-operating income (expense). Net non-operating expense was $1.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2011 compared to net non-operating
expense of $2.0 million for the six months ended June 30, 2010.

Net interest income was $0.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2011 compared to $0.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2010. Interest
income increased primarily due to higher cash balance during the six months ended June 30, 2011 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2010.

Net other non-operating expense was $1.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2011, compared to net other non-operating expense of $2.4 million for
the six months ended June 30, 2010. Net other non-operating expense consists of exchange gains and losses on cash and intercompany balances, which are
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency and are not considered permanent in nature. During the first six months of 2011, we wrote-off our
$1.8 million investment in JobKoo and our $1.0 million loan to JobKoo made in the first quarter of 2011. JobKoo is a joint venture in which the Company holds
an equity method investment. Additionally, during the second quarter of 2010, we identified that we were not properly accounting for our non-controlling interest
associated with our operations in China. As a result, we recorded a cumulative adjustment of $1.1 million in net other non-operating expense.

Income taxes. For the first six months of 2011, we reported income before taxes of $5.1 million and recorded an income tax provision of $2.3 million. Our
effective income tax rate for the six months ended June 30, 2011 was 45.7%, up from a tax benefit rate in the first quarter of 21.1%. The change to the tax rate
from the first quarter was a result of a change in the projection and mix of income earned worldwide.

For the first six months of 2010, we reported income before taxes of $1.8 million and recorded an income tax provision of $0.7 million. Our effective
income tax rate for the six months ended June 30, 2010 was 38.8%.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

General. We continually evaluate our liquidity requirements, capital needs and availability of capital resources based on our operating needs. We believe
that our existing cash balances together with the funds expected to be generated from operations and funds available under our committed revolving credit facility
will be sufficient to finance our operations for the foreseeable future, as well as to finance the cash payments associated with our restructuring charges, cash
dividends, and stock repurchase program.

We pay the non-deferred portion of annual bonuses in the first quarter following the year in which they are earned. Employee bonuses are accrued
throughout the year and are based on our performance and the performance of the individual employee.

Lines of credit. On June 22, 2011, the Company and certain foreign subsidiary borrowers of the Company entered into a Credit Agreement (the
“Agreement”) with its lenders. The Agreement provides the terms under which the lenders will make available to the Company a committed unsecured revolving
credit facility in an aggregate amount of up to $75 million (the “Facility”). The Agreement includes an expansion feature that allows the Company to seek to
increase the aggregate commitment under the Facility by up to $25 million provided that the Company is in compliance with certain conditions set forth in the
Agreement. The Agreement also provides for the issuance of letters of credit. The Facility matures on June 22, 2016. Under the Agreement, the Borrowers may
borrow U.S. dollars, euros, British pound sterling, Australian dollars or other major traded currencies as agreed by the lenders. Borrowings under the Agreement
bear interest, at the Company’s election, at the existing Alternate Base Rate (as defined in the Agreement) or Adjusted LIBOR Rate (as defined in the Agreement)
plus a spread as determined by the Company’s leverage ratio.

The Agreement replaces the Company’s $75 million Credit Agreement, dated October 26, 2006, which was terminated on June 22, 2011 (the “Terminated
Agreement”). The Terminated Agreement allowed us to borrow U.S. dollars, euros or other major currencies as agreed by the lenders. Borrowings under the
Terminated Agreement bore interest at the existing Alternate Base Rate or at LIBOR plus a spread as determined by our leverage ratio.

There were no borrowings made or outstanding under the existing lines of credit during the quarters ended June 30, 2011 or 2010. We were in compliance
with the financial covenants of the Facility and no event of default existed at June 30, 2011.

Cash and cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents at June 30, 2011, December 31, 2010 and June 30, 2010 were $103.1 million, $181.1 million and
$92.6 million, respectively.

Cash flows used in operating activities. For the six months ended June 30, 2011, cash used in operating activities was $61.6 million, principally reflecting a
decrease in accrued expenses primarily due to cash bonus payments of approximately $99 million in March 2011 partially offset by 2011 bonus accruals and other
non-cash charges, a $25.6 million increase in trade and other receivables and net income of $2.8 million.

For the six months ended June 30, 2010, cash used in operating activities was $8.3 million, principally reflecting an increase in trade and other receivables,
cash bonus payments of approximately $47 million and restructuring payments of $1.8 million partially offset by 2010 bonus accruals.

Cash flows used in investing activities. Cash used in investing activities was $12.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2011 primarily due to capital
expenditures of $9.8 million, a $1.0 million loan to JobKoo, an equity method investment, and an increase of $0.7 million of restricted cash.

Cash used in investing activities was $9.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2010 primarily due to capital expenditures of $11.4 million and $0.6
million related to the Bell McCaw Bampfylde Limited acquisition.

Cash flows used in financing activities. Cash used in financing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2011 was $7.8 million primarily due to $5.1
million of quarterly cash dividends to shareholders and $2.7 million of payments for employee tax withholdings on equity transactions.

Cash used in financing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2010 was $9.6 million primarily due to $5.1 million of quarterly cash dividends to
shareholders and $4.5 million of payments for employee tax withholdings on equity transactions.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements. We do not have material off-balance sheet arrangements, special purpose entities, trading activities of non-exchange
traded contracts or transactions with related parties.
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Application of Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations is based upon our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements,
which have been prepared using accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our significant accounting policies are discussed in
Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2010, as filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) on March 16, 2011, and in Note 2, Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies, in the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 1. The preparation of these financial statements requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities. Management bases its estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. If actual amounts are ultimately different from previous
estimates, the revisions are included in our results of operations for the period in which the actual amounts become known.

An accounting policy is deemed to be critical if it requires an accounting estimate to be made based on assumptions about matters that are highly uncertain
at the time the estimate is made, and if different estimates that reasonably could have been used, or changes in the accounting estimates that are reasonably likely
to occur periodically, could materially impact the financial statements. Management believes its critical accounting policies that reflect its more significant
estimates and assumptions relate to revenue recognition, accruals for consultant bonuses, stock-based compensation, income taxes, goodwill and other intangible
assets, contingent liabilities, and the allowance for doubtful accounts. See Application of Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates in Item 7, Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010,
as filed with the SEC on March 16, 2011.

Recently Adopted Financial Accounting Standards

On January 1, 2011, we adopted guidance which expands the required disclosures about fair value measurements. This guidance requires disclosures about
transfers of investments between levels in the fair value hierarchy and disclosures relating to the reconciliation of fair value measurements using significant
unobservable inputs (level 3 investments). The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on our financial condition or results of operations.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In June 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued guidance to increase the prominence of other comprehensive income within the financial
statements. The guidance requires entities to present the components of net income and other comprehensive income either in a single continuous statement or in
two separate, but consecutive, statements of net income and other comprehensive income. The option to present other comprehensive income within the statement
of stockholders’ equity will be eliminated. This guidance is effective for us as of January 1, 2012 and will be applied retrospectively beginning with the March 31,
2012 interim reporting period. We do not believe adoption of this guidance will have any impact on our financial condition or results of operations.
 
ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Currency market risk. With our operations in the Americas, Europe and Asia Pacific we conduct business using various currencies. Revenue earned in each
country is generally matched with the associated expenses incurred, thereby reducing currency risk to earnings. However, because certain assets and liabilities are
denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, changes in currency rates may cause fluctuations in the valuation of such assets and liabilities. As the local
currency of our subsidiaries has generally been designated as the functional currency, we are affected by the translation of foreign currency financial statements
into U.S. dollars. A 1% change in the average exchange rate for currencies of all foreign countries in which we operate would have increased or decreased our net
income for the six months ended June 30, 2011 by less than $0.1 million. For financial information by geographic segment, see Note 14, Segment Information, in
the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, (The Exchange Act) Rule
13a-15(e)) that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the Company’s reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time frames specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) rules and regulations, and that
such information is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including its principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Any system of controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can
provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives.

Management of the Company, with the participation of the principal executive officer and the interim principal financial officer, evaluated the effectiveness
of the design and operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as of June 30, 2011. Based on the evaluation, the Company’s chief executive
officer and interim chief financial officer concluded that because of the material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting described below, the
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of June 30, 2011. As previously reported in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2010 which was filed with the SEC on March 16, 2011, management identified a material weakness in internal control over financial
reporting related to controls over accounting for compensation arrangements between the Company and certain of its employees. As a result of this material
weakness, management also concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was not effective as of June 30, 2011.

(b) Changes in Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting

There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

However, management has established a Remediation Committee which is working to address the material weakness in the following ways:
 

 
•  Evaluated, redesigned and enhanced controls to provide a more formal process for granting, updating and disseminating compensation arrangements

to facilitate the complete and timely review by accounting personnel.
 

 
•  Improved the review processes and procedures over the compensation process and period end compensation liability. Such procedures will include

additional levels of oversight and implementing controls around the validation of information utilized in the calculations.

The implementation of these additional controls and procedures is currently progressing as planned, and is expected to be completed by the third quarter
2011. The Company will not be able to conclude that the material weakness has been successfully remediated and cannot make assurances that it will be able to
reach such conclusion, until the testing of controls demonstrates that the controls have operated effectively for a sufficient period of time.

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
 

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

We have contingent liabilities from various pending claims and litigation matters arising in the ordinary course of our business, some of which involve
claims for damages that may be substantial in amount. Some of these matters are covered by insurance. Although our ultimate liability in the matter discussed
below cannot be determined, based upon information currently available, we believe the ultimate resolution of such claims and litigation will not have a material
adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or liquidity.

UK Employee Benefits Trust

On January 27, 2010, HM Revenue & Customs (“HMRC”) in the United Kingdom notified us that it was challenging the tax treatment of certain of our
contributions in the United Kingdom to an Employee Benefits Trust between 2002 and 2008. HMRC alleges that these contributions should have been subject to
Pay As You Earn tax and Class 1 National Insurance Contributions in the United Kingdom; and HMRC is proposing an adjustment to our payroll tax liability for
the affected years. The aggregate amount of HMRC’s proposed adjustment is approximately £3.9 million (equivalent to $6.3 million at June 30, 2011). We have
appealed the proposed adjustment. At this time, we believe that the likelihood of an unfavorable outcome with respect to the proposed adjustment is not probable
and the potential amount of any loss cannot be reasonably estimated. We also believe that the amount of any final adjustment, if any, would not be material to our
financial condition.
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Item 6. Exhibits
 
Exhibit No.  Description

  *10.1  Consulting Agreement between Heidrick & Struggles International, Inc. and Richard W. Pehlke dated May 16, 2011

  *10.2
 

Amended and Restated Employment Letter Agreement between Heidrick & Struggles International, Inc. and Stephen W. Beard dated May
18, 2011

  10.3

 

Credit Agreement among Heidrick & Struggles International, Inc., certain foreign subsidiary borrowers thereto, the lenders party thereto
and JPMorgan Chase Bank, as Administrative Agent, dated June, 2011 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant’s Form
8-K, dated June 22, 2011, filed on June 27, 2011)

  *31.1  Certification of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

  *31.2  Certification of the Company’s interim Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

  *32.1
 

Certification of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

  *32.2
 

Certification of the Company’s interim Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

**101

 

The following financial information from the Heidrick & Struggles International, Inc. Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended June 30, 2011 formatted in Extensible Business Reporting Language (XBRL) and furnished electronically herewith:
(i) Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets; (ii) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations; (iii) Condensed Consolidated
Statement of Stockholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income; (iv) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows; and (v) related
Footnotes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, tagged as blocks of text.

 
* Filed herewith.
** Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, these interactive data files are deemed not filed or part of a registration statement or prospectus for purposes of

Sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, are deemed not filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, and otherwise are not subject to liability under those sections.
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SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto
duly authorized.

Date: August 1, 2011
 

Heidrick & Struggles International, Inc.
                         (Registrant)

By:  /S/     RICHARD W. PEHLKE
 Richard W. Pehlke
 (interim Chief Financial Officer)
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Exhibit 10.1

CONSULTING AGREEMENT

This Consulting Agreement (this “Agreement”) is entered into as of the 16th day of May, 2011 (hereinafter referred to as the effective date of the Agreement), by
and between Richard W. Pehlke, with an address of 850 Raintree Drive, Naperville, Illinois, 60540 (hereinafter referred to as “Consultant”), and HEIDRICK &
STRUGGLES INTERNATIONAL, INC., a Delaware corporation (hereinafter referred to as “Heidrick”).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, Heidrick is one of the leading providers of executive search and other leadership consulting services on a worldwide basis; and

WHEREAS, Consultant is engaged in providing consulting services; and

WHEREAS, Consultant wishes to enter into an agreement with Heidrick in order to temporarily perform the function of chief financial officer for Heidrick and to
fulfill the duties and responsibilities of chief financial officer of Heidrick as more fully described in the position specification attached hereto as Exhibit A (the
“Services”);

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and of the mutual promises hereinafter expressed, the parties hereto do mutually agree as follows:

ARTICLE I

SCOPE OF AGREEMENT

A. Consultant shall, in a professional manner, take all steps necessary to perform consulting services for Heidrick, particularly the Services. Consultant will
perform, schedule, staff and manage all Services.

C. Heidrick shall pay Consultant a fee of Thirty One Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($31,500) per month (the “Fee”) for the Services. Consultant will be
reimbursed for Consultant’s COBRA contribution and any reasonable and necessary out-of-pocket expenses incurred at Heidrick’s request, including travel
expenses. All expenses that will be submitted for reimbursement will be in compliance with Heidrick’s travel and entertainment policy. Heidrick will make
payment of any undisputed invoice within 30 days of receipt of invoice.

ARTICLE II

PERIOD OF PERFORMANCE

This Agreement shall be effective as of the date first set forth above and shall expire on September 15, 2011 unless extended by the mutual written agreement of
Heidrick and Consultant. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Agreement shall be earlier terminated (x) by mutual agreement of the parties, or (y) Heidrick may
terminate for convenience upon fourteen (14) days advance written notice to Consultant, or (z) Heidrick may terminate for cause immediately. Time is of the
essence in this Agreement.



ARTICLE III

MANAGEMENT

Consultant will be responsible for the overall administration of the Services. However, Consultant is responsible for adhering to Heidrick’s direction including,
without limitation, complying with specific requirements of which Heidrick makes Consultant aware. Consultant will report to the Chief Executive Officer of
Heidrick.

ARTICLE IV

CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION

The parties acknowledge and agree that in the course of the performance of the Services or additional services pursuant to this Agreement, that each may be given
access to, or come into possession of, confidential information of the other party, or its clients, which information may contain trade secrets, proprietary data or
other confidential material of that party, or its clients. Therefore the parties will execute a Non-Disclosure Agreement which is attached hereto as Exhibit B, and
incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein. Materials used in any engagement undertaken pursuant to this Agreement shall not be altered or changed
without the consent of both parties.

ARTICLE V

NO PARTNERSHIP

Nothing herein contained shall be construed to imply a joint venture, partnership or principal-agent relationship between Heidrick and Consultant, and neither
party shall have the right, power or authority to obligate or bind the other in any manner whatsoever, except as otherwise agreed to in writing. The parties do not
contemplate a sharing of profits relating to the Services so as to create a separate taxable entity under Section 761 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended, nor co-ownership of a business or property so as to create a separate partnership under the law of any jurisdiction, including, without limitation,
Delaware. Accordingly, for tax, property and liability purposes Consultant will perform the Services, on a professional basis and as an independent contractor of
Heidrick. Revenues and expenses relating to the Services and any additional services shall be reported separately by the parties for tax purposes. During the
performance of any of the Services, Heidrick’s employees will not be considered employees of Consultant, and vice versa, within the meaning or the applications
of any federal, state or local laws or regulations including, but not limited to, laws or regulations covering unemployment insurance, old age benefits, worker’s
compensation, industrial accident, labor or taxes of any kind. Consultant’s personnel who are to perform the Services or additional services to be provided by
Consultant hereunder shall be under the employment, and ultimate control, management and supervision of Consultant. It is understood and agreed that
Consultant’s employees shall not be considered Heidrick’s employees within the meaning or application of Heidrick’s employee fringe benefit programs for the
purpose of vacations, holidays, pension, group life insurance, accidental death, medical, hospitalization, and surgical benefits.



ARTICLE VI

TRADEMARK, TRADE NAME AND COPYRIGHTS

Except as expressly provided herein, this Agreement does not give either party any ownership rights or interest in the other party’s trade name, trademarks or
copyrights.

ARTICLE VII

INDEMNIFICATION

Consultant, at his own expense, shall indemnify, defend and hold Heidrick, its partners, shareholders, directors, officers, employees, and agents harmless from
and against any and all third-party suits, actions, investigations and proceedings, and related costs and expenses (including reasonable attorney’s fees) resulting
solely and directly from the Consultant’s negligence or willful misconduct. Heidrick agrees to give Consultant prompt written notice of any claim or other matter
as to which it believes this indemnification provision is applicable. Heidrick shall have the right to defend against any such claim with counsel of its own
choosing and to settle and/or compromise such claim as it deems appropriate. Each party further agrees to cooperate with the other in the defense of any such
claim or other matter.

ARTICLE VIII

NON-SOLICITATION/NON-COMPETITION

Without the prior written consent of Heidrick, during the term of this Agreement and for a period of twelve (12) months after termination of this Agreement,
either by mutual agreement or by Heidrick for convenience or for cause, Consultant will not (i) become engaged in or otherwise become interested in, whether as
an owner, officer, employee, consultant, director, stockholder, or otherwise, in any company, enterprise or entity that provides or intends to provide services
similar to those provided by Heidrick in the geographical area which was served during this Agreement; (ii) directly or indirectly solicit, or assist any other person
in soliciting, any employee of Heidrick or its affiliates or any person who, as of the termination of this Agreement, was in the process of being recruited by
Heidrick or its affiliates, or induce any such employee to terminate his or her employment with Heidrick or its affiliates; or (iii) hire or assist another in hiring any
employee of Heidrick or its affiliates who potentially possesses Heidrick or its affiliate’s confidential information for a position where the employee’s knowledge
of such information might be relevant.

ARTICLE IX

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

Work performed on engagements pursuant to this Agreement by Consultant and information, materials, products and deliverables developed in connection with
engagements pursuant to this Agreement shall be the property of Heidrick. All underlying methodology utilized by Consultant which was created and/or
developed by Consultant prior to the date of this Agreement and utilized in the course of performing engagements pursuant to this Agreement shall not become
the property of Heidrick.



ARTICLE X

GENERAL PROVISIONS

A. Entire Agreement: This Agreement together with all documents incorporated by reference herein, constitutes the entire and sole agreement between the parties
with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes any prior agreements, negotiations, understandings, or other matters, whether oral or written, with respect
to the subject matter hereof. This Agreement cannot be modified, changed or amended, except for in writing signed by a duly authorized representative of each of
the parties.

B. Conflict: In the event of any conflict, ambiguity or inconsistency between this Agreement and any other document which may be annexed hereto, the terms of
this Agreement shall govern.

C. Assignment and Delegation: Neither party shall assign or delegate this Agreement or any rights, duties or obligations hereunder to any other person and/or
entity without prior express written approval of the other party.

D. Notices: Any notice required or permitted to be given under this Agreement shall be in writing, by hand delivery, commercial overnight courier or registered or
certified U.S. Mail, to the address stated below for Consultant or to the address stated below for Heidrick, and shall be deemed duly given upon receipt, or if by
registered or certified mail three (3) business days following deposit in the U.S. Mail. The parties hereto may from time to time designate in writing other
addresses expressly for the purpose of receipt of notice hereunder.
 

If to Heidrick:   Heidrick & Struggles International, Inc.
  233 South Wacker Drive
  Suite 4200
  Chicago, Illinois 60606-6303
  Attention: Office of the General Counsel
  Facsimile: 312.496.1297

If to Consultant:   Richard W. Pehlke
  850 Raintree Drive
  Naperville, Illinois 60540

E. Severability: If any provision of this Agreement is declared invalid or unenforceable, such provision shall be deemed modified to the extent necessary and
possible to render it valid and enforceable. In any event, the unenforceability or invalidity of any provision shall not affect any other provision of this Agreement,
and this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect, and be construed and enforced, as if such provision had not been included, or had been modified as
above provided, as the case may be.

F. Disputes: Heidrick and Consultant will use their best efforts to resolve any dispute(s) arising from this Agreement through mediation (an alternative dispute
resolution) prior to initiating litigation.

G. Governing Law: This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Illinois without giving effect to its choice of
law principles.



H. Paragraph Headings: The paragraph headings set forth in this Agreement are for the convenience of the parties, and in no way define, limit, or describe the
scope or intent of this Agreement and are to be given no legal effect.

I. Counterparts: This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall
constitute one and the same instrument.

J. Exhibits: The Exhibits attached hereto are made a part of this Agreement as if fully set forth herein.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties, by their duly authorized representatives, have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date first written
above.
 
HEIDRICK & STRUGGLES   CONSULTANT
INTERNATIONAL, INC.   

By:  /s/ L. Kevin Kelly   By:  /s/ Richard W. Pehlke
Name:  L. Kevin Kelly   Name: Richard W. Pehlke
Title:  President and Chief Executive Officer   Title:  Interim CFO



Exhibit A

Company, Position & Person Profile
 
 
Chief Financial Officer

May 2011

Heidrick & Struggles advises the company on the basis of an exclusive consulting assignment. The following details are for your personal information and should
be kept confidential.



The Company

Heidrick & Struggles International, Inc. (NASDAQ: HSII) is the world’s premier provider of senior-level executive search and leadership consulting services,
including talent management, board building, executive on-boarding and M&A effectiveness. With 2010 revenue of approximately $500 million, the Company is
one of the largest providers of executive search and leadership consulting services in the world. For nearly 60 years, the firm has focused on quality service and
built strong leadership teams through its relationships with clients and individuals worldwide. Heidrick & Struggles is headquartered in Chicago, Illinois, but with
more than 400 consultants and 60 locations in 35 countries around the world, it has the resources and contacts necessary to conduct a global, multinational,
national, or local market search. This capability enables Heidrick & Struggles to serve its clients wherever they are located within the framework of a responsive
international partnership.

Heidrick & Struggles’ focus on top-level services offers several advantages that include access to and influence with key decision makers, increased potential for
recurring search consulting engagements, higher fees per search, enhanced brand visibility, and a leveraged global footprint, which create added barriers to entry
for potential competitors. Working at the top of client organizations also allows the Company to attract and retain high-caliber consultants.

In addition to executive search, the Company provides a range of leadership consulting services to clients. These services include succession planning, top team
effectiveness, executive assessment, talent management, executive development, and M&A human capital effectiveness.

The Corporate and North American accounting and finance organizations are located in Chicago. There are also international accounting and finance staff located
in London and Sydney. The position will require travel to offices around the world. For more information about Heidrick & Struggles, please visit
www.heidrick.com.



  The Position

Title:   Chief Financial Officer

Location:   Chicago, Illinois

Reports to:   Chief Executive Officer

Direct reports:   Treasurer, Controller, Investor Relations and Real Estate

Peer relationships:
  

EVP, General Counsel; EVP, Chief Human Resources Officer; Managing Partner, Global Practices; Chief Marketing Officer;
Chief Information Officer

Initial Focus and
Challenges:

  

•       Establish a collaborative and respectful partnership with the executive leadership team, regional and practice leaders, and
firms’ consultants. Help advise on the reporting and presentation of their individual objectives and results.

 

•       Establish an effective relationship with the Board of Directors, specifically with the Audit and Finance Committees.
 

•       Instill leadership that generates excitement, energy and inspiration. Develop a financial organization that promotes a
collaborative, open and engaging work environment.

 

•       Establish efficient processes and controls that safeguard the assets of the business, while also producing meaningful
metrics that measure performance and risk.

 

•       Evaluate strategic transactions and lead execution and integration as appropriate.

  

 
Specific Responsibilities

  

Specifically, the CFO’s responsibilities will include:
 

•       Maintaining the integrity of financial information and assuring its effective communication to internal and external
constituencies.

 

•       Assuring the protection and deployment of corporate assets and playing a key role in building shareholder value.
 

•       Maintaining oversight responsibility for the Company compliance, regulatory and reporting requirements.



  

•       Ensuring adequate internal controls are in place to adhere to all regulatory requirements, including Sarbanes-Oxley.
 

•       Working closely with the CEO and the rest of the leadership team to identify, evaluate and implement strategies that will
improve operating efficiencies, enhance client relationships and improve shareholder value.

 

•       Continuing to improve the Company’s financial reporting and analysis on an integrated basis across the globe.
 

•       Continuing the implementation of financial and management information systems and streamlining related business
processes to assure timely, accurate and informative financial and management information that is predictive as well as
historical.

 

•       Defining and implementing financial metrics to inform earlier, faster and better decision-making.

  The Person

Qualifications & Experience

  

The successful candidate will bring at least fifteen years of progressively responsible financial function experience for a global
enterprise. The individual must have accumulated, through various corporate and business unit roles, the skills and operating
experiences required to lead the financial function of a global company. Experience in a professional services environment is
strongly preferred, though not required. Public company experience is required.
 
Additional qualifications include:
 

•       Undergraduate degree in business or related field of study required. MBA and/or CPA are highly desirable.
 

•       Strong technical competence in wide-ranging finance disciplines including financial planning, financial reporting,
accounting, tax, audit, treasury, risk management and mergers & acquisitions.

 

•       Experience in a global, multi-site business is a must. S/he need not have lived and worked abroad, but the following two
skill sets are desirable: 1) experience building a greater



  

presence in Asia and other emerging markets; and 2) a broad understanding and appreciation of international accounting,
tax and regulatory requirements and cultures across the world.

 

•       Demonstrated success as a business partner with a leadership team and line managers – must possess strong
organizational, interpersonal and communication skills.

 

•       Broad financial skills, including experience in SEC reporting, Sarbanes-Oxley and other reporting and regulatory
requirements, financial planning and analysis, and control.

 

•       Must possess the intellect, confidence and presence to operate effectively within the Company, the Board of Directors,
outside auditors and regulators, clients, investors and analysts, and with business partners.

 

•       A seasoned strategic finance executive with an operational focus and capital markets experience. Capital markets
experience is important in that the successful candidate must be Street-savvy and credible with commercial and investment
banks, analysts and rating agencies. However, a lengthy deal sheet of complex debt and equity offerings and placements is
not required. Other “deal” experience (allegiances, alliances, ventures, acquisitions, divestitures) is preferred.

 

•       Investor relations experience is required, but the successful candidate need not have had first-chair responsibility.
 

•       Must be information technology-savvy. Ideally, s/he will have led or played a significant role in a major financial systems
implementation.

 

•       Demonstrated success in building, leading, motivating and retaining high-performing teams.

Leadership & Management
Behavioral Competencies

  

Organizational Buy-in and Relationship Building: Strong influencing and relationship building skills; must demonstrate the
ability to secure buy-in at all levels within the organization.
 
External Awareness: Shows a strong understanding of the professional services business environment and understands



  

factors, trends and issues which influence the Company’s business performance.
 
Analytical and Strategic Thinking: Superior analytical skills balanced by a keen ability to integrate the broader strategic
picture. Strong analytical skills enabling complex issues to be rapidly understood and explained before presenting the results in
an understandable manner. Is not restricted by the current situation, can see beyond today to where new opportunities exist.
 
Driving Results: A pragmatic person with an intense commitment to drive results through effective team and individual
performance. Sets clear goals and manages accountability.

Personal Characteristics

  

•       Unquestionable integrity.
 

•       Ability to empower and mobilize cross-functional teams in a collaborative and effective manner.
 

•       A financially dynamic thinker who can articulate a cogent financial perspective on business issues and has solid business
judgment.

 

•       A shareholder value-building and client service perspective.
 

•       A team player – equally effective as a team leader or team member; a change agent.
 

•       A builder of effective and trusting relationships between the corporate staff and the business.
 

•       Hands on, with the ability to balance strategic vision with tactical execution.
 

•       Intelligent, practical, strategic and detail-oriented.
 

•       Proactive, energetic and self-motivated and possessing a strong work ethic.



Exhibit B

NON-DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT is made by and between Heidrick & Struggles, Inc., a Delaware Corporation (hereinafter H&S), and the undersigned (hereinafter
“Second Party”).

WHEREAS, H&S has been investing considerable capital, time and effort in establishing and developing computer programs and hardware
configurations to computerize certain areas of its executive recruiting process including, without limitation, H&S’s client/search history, and information
relating to individuals who may contact H&S or be contacted by H&S; and has confidential and proprietary information relating thereto; and

WHEREAS, H&S at times receives information from its clients and others which H&S is obligated to treat as confidential or proprietary; and

WHEREAS, Second Party in the course of its association with H&S will have access to certain of said confidential and proprietary information
pertaining to computer programs and hardware configurations and to the business affairs of H&S.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and conditions herein contained, and the association with H&S of Second Party, the parties
hereto agree as follows:

1. “Confidential Information” shall mean information relating to computer programs and hardware configurations of a proprietary and confidential nature,
whether communicated orally or in writing, including without limitation, concepts, techniques, new systems-software planning, processes, designs, circuits, cost
data, computer programs, and other technical know-how disclosed by H&S to Second Party or obtained by Second Party through observation or examination of
H&S’s facilities or procedures. Confidential Information shall also include any information of a confidential nature concerning H&S’s financial information,
H&S’s clients or the business and employees of H&S and any information H&S has received from others, which H&S is obligated to treat as confidential or
proprietary.

2. Second Party acknowledges that irreparable injury and damage will result from disclosure to third parties, or utilization for purposes other than those
connected with its association with H&S, of Confidential Information.

3. Second Party shall not, without the prior written consent of H&S, disclose any Confidential Information to any third party and shall not use the
Confidential Information except pursuant to and in the course of Second Party’s association with H&S, provided, however, that Second Party shall have no
liability to H&S under this Agreement with respect to the disclosure and/or use of any such Confidential Information which:

(a) Second Party can establish has become publicly known without breach of this Agreement by Second Party, or

(b) has become known by or available to Second Party prior to H&S’s disclosure of such information to Second Party, as evidenced by written documents
received by Second Party



(prior to H&S’s disclosure to Second Party) from anyone, including Second Party’s employees, agents, or representatives, or

(c) has become known by or available to Second Party subsequent to H&S’s disclosure of such information to Second Party from anyone, including Second
Party’s employees, agents, or representatives, where the original source of such information was not H&S or persons associated or affiliated with H&S.

4. Second Party agrees that any disclosure of Confidential Information within Second Party’s own company shall be only such as necessary to accomplish
the purpose of Second Party’s association with H&S. Second Party shall take all such security precautions to protect from disclosure and to keep confidential the
Confidential Information as may be necessary, including without limitation, protection of documents from theft, unauthorized duplication and discovery of
contents, and restrictions of access by other persons to Confidential Information.

5. Second Party shall return all written material, photographs, and all other documentation made available or supplied by H&S to Second Party, and all
copies and reproductions thereof, on request.

6. Second Party shall not make or use any copies, synopses or summaries of oral or written material, photographs, or any other documentation or
information made available or supplied by H&S to Second Party except such as are necessary for Second Party’s association with H&S or as are necessary to
accomplish the purpose of Second Party’s association with H&S. Second Party shall not disclose to any third party the fact of Second Party’s relationship with
H&S unless H&S, in writing, signed by H&S’s President or Secretary, first approves the disclosure.

7. H&S retains all rights and remedies afforded it under the patent and other laws of the United States and the States thereof, including without limitation
any laws designed to protect proprietary or confidential information.

8. During the term of this agreement Second Party will be prohibited from providing any similar services to the following designated competitors of H&S:
Korn/Ferry, Russell Reynolds & Associates, Spencer Stuart, Egon Zehnder International, Lamalie Amrop International, Ray & Berndston, LAI Ward Howell
International, and A.T. Kearney Executive Search, or any other firm engaged in executive search.

9. This Agreement sets forth the entire agreement and understanding of the parties and merges all prior discussions between them as to Confidential
Information. Neither party may be bound by any definition, condition, representation or waiver other than as expressly stated in this Agreement or as
subsequently set forth in writing signed by the parties hereto.

10. This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Illinois as applied to contracts entered into and to be performed within the State of
Illinois.

11. Second Party’s obligations under this Agreement shall terminate five (5) years from the date the Confidential Information was obtained.



12. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective heirs, administrators, executors, successors and
assigns.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this agreement this 16th day of May, 2011.
 
HEIDRICK & STRUGGLES, INC.

By:  /s/ L. Kevin Kelly

SECOND PARTY

By:  /s/ Richard W. Pehlke



Exhibit 10.2

 

May 18, 2011   

233 South Wacker Drive,
 

Suite 4200, Chicago, IL 60606,
 

United States
 

telephone +1 312 496 1200
 

facsimile +1 312 496 1290
 

www.heidrick.com

Private & Confidential

Mr. Stephen W. Beard
3600 N. Lakeshore Drive
Apt. 1302
Chicago, IL 60613

Dear Stephen:

On behalf of Heidrick & Struggles, Inc. (“HSII” or the “Company”), I am pleased to confirm the new terms of your employment arrangement in this letter
agreement (the “Agreement”). All amounts in this Agreement are denominated in U.S. dollars.
 

1. Effective Date: The new terms of employment are effective as of December 1, 2010.
 

2. Title: You will serve as Executive Vice President, General Counsel & Corporate Secretary, reporting directly to the Chief Executive Officer. You will have
such duties and responsibilities as are customarily assigned to such position, as well as such other duties and responsibilities that may be assigned to you
from time to time by the Chief Executive Officer. You agree that you will devote your full time, energy, and skill to the business of the Company and to the
promotion of the Company’s best interest, and shall not work or perform services for any other employer as an employee, consultant or otherwise during
the term of your employment.

 

3. Location: You will be based in the Company’s Chicago office.
 

4. Base Salary: As of the Effective Date, you will receive a monthly base salary of $22,916.67 (which is equivalent to $275,000 annually). The base salary as
in effect from time to time may not be reduced and is subject to review by the



 Human Resources and Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors (“HRCC”) beginning in 2011.
 

5. Management Incentive Plan (MIP) Participation: You will participate in the MIP at the Tier 1 level.
 

6. Management Bonus: For 2010 you shall be eligible for a management bonus as follows:
 

 
a. A target management bonus equal to $55,000, which reflects pro ration of your target bonus for the period January 1, 2010 to June 30, 2010 as

Deputy General Counsel and Chief Compliance Officer; and
 

 
b. A target management bonus equal to $137,500, which reflects pro ration of your target bonus for the period July 1, 2010 to December 31, 2010

during which you served as Interim General Counsel and General Counsel & Corporate Secretary.

Effective January 1, 2011, you will be eligible for an annual target management bonus equal to 100% of your base salary. The actual bonus payout is
subject to review by the Human Resources and Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors (“HRCC”).

 

7. Incentive Compensation and Other Plans: You will be eligible to participate in other management compensation plans, including the Management Stock
Option Plan, the Change in Control Severance Plan at Tier 1 and the Management Severance Pay Plan as a Top Employee, as such plans may be amended
from time to time.

 

8. Promotional Equity Award: You will receive a one-time promotional award of RSUs having a value of $100,000, which will vest at the rate of one-third on
each of the first, second and third anniversaries of the date they are granted, subject to the approval of the HSII Human Resources and Compensation
Committee of the Board of Directors (“HRCC”) and your execution of the grant agreements.

 

9. Annual Equity Awards: You will receive consideration for annual equity grants as part of your performance and compensation review. Annual equity
awards are subject to the approval of the HRCC.

 

10. Payment of Bonuses. All bonuses are not earned until approved by HRCC. In addition, bonuses, promotional awards and long term incentives are only
payable if you are employed by the Company on the date such awards are paid.

 

11. Benefits: You will be eligible to participate in the Company’s benefit programs to the same extent as other employees at your level. Our benefits program
includes group health, dental, vision, life/AD&D, long-term disability, short-
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term disability salary continuation, paid holidays, flexible spending accounts, the Heidrick & Struggles, Inc. 401(k) Profit Sharing and Retirement Plan, and
the Deferred Compensation Plan. You will also be eligible to participate in the Company’s Physical Examination and Financial Planning Program. Your
eligibility for all such programs and plans is determined under the terms of those programs/plans. Any discrepancy between this summary and the
company’s plan documents will be resolved in favor of the plan documents. Our benefits program, compensation programs, and policies are reviewed from
time to time by Company management and may be modified, amended, or terminated at any time.

 

12. Business Expenses: The Company will reimburse you for your business expenses in accordance with its policies.
 

13. Compliance with Policies: Subject to the terms of this Agreement, you agree that you will comply in all material respects with all policies and procedures
applicable to similarly situated employees of the Company, generally and specifically.

 

14. Termination of Employment:
 

 
a. Employment at Will: You will be an “employee at will” of the Company, meaning that either party may terminate the employment relationship at any

time for any reason (with or without cause or reason) upon written notice to the other party. A period of notice shall only be required if it is expressly
provided in writing under written Company employment policies in effect at the time of such termination.

 

 
b. No Notice Period in Case of Termination for Cause: Notwithstanding any period of notice under written Company employment policies in effect at

the time of termination, the Company shall have the right to terminate your employment for Cause immediately upon written notice.
 

 

c. Compensation Upon Termination: Upon the termination of your employment, you will be paid your Base Salary up through your last day of work
(the “Termination Date ), and any other amounts required by law. You will also be entitled to participate in the Change in Control Severance Plan as
a Tier 1 executive and Section 16(b) Officer as well as the Severance Pay Plan as a Tier 1 executive, as such, plans may be modified or amended
from time to time.

 

 
d. Definition of Cause: For purposes of this Agreement, “Cause” shall mean any of the following: (i) your engagement, during the performance of your

duties hereunder, in acts or omissions constituting dishonesty,
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fraud, intentional breach of fiduciary obligation or intentional wrongdoing or malfeasance; (ii) your conviction for a felony; (iii) your material
violation or breach of any provision of this Agreement; (iv) your unauthorized use or disclosure of confidential information pertaining to the
Company s business; (v) your engagement in conduct causing demonstrable injury to the Company or its reputation; (vi) your unreasonable failure or
refusal to perform your duties as the Company reasonably requires, to meet goals reasonably established by the Company, or to abide by the
Company’s policies for the operation of its business, and the continuation thereof after the receipt by you of written notice from the Company;
(vii) your illegal use of drugs or use of alcohol or intoxication on work premises, during working time, or which interferes with the performance of
your duties and obligations on behalf of the Company; or (viii) your death or Disability, as hereinafter defined. For purposes of this Agreement,
“Disability” shall mean that you have been unable, for six (6) consecutive months, to perform your duties under this Agreement even with
accommodation, as a result of physical or mental illness or injury.

 

 

e. Return of Materials: Upon the termination of your employment, you agree to return to the Company, all Company property, including all materials
furnished to you during your employment (including but not limited to keys, computers, automobiles, electronic communication devices, files and
identification cards) and all materials created by you during your employment. In addition, you agree that upon the termination of your employment
you will provide the Company with all passwords and similar information which will be necessary for the Company to access materials on which you
worked or to otherwise continue in its business.

 

15. Confidentiality: In the course of your employment with the Company, you will be given access to and otherwise obtain knowledge of certain trade secrets
and confidential and proprietary information pertaining to the business of the Company and its affiliates. During the term of your employment with the
Company and thereafter, you will not, directly or indirectly, without the prior written consent of the Company, disclose or use for the benefit of any person,
corporation or other entity, or for yourself, any trade secrets or other confidential or proprietary information concerning the Company or its affiliates,
including, but not limited to, information pertaining to their clients, services, products, earnings, finances, operations, marketing, methods or other
activities; provided, however, that the foregoing shall not apply to information which is of
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public record or is generally known, disclosed or available to the general public or the industry generally (other than as a result of your breach of this
covenant or the breach by another employee of his or her confidentiality obligations). Notwithstanding the foregoing, you may disclose such information as
is required by law during any legal proceeding or to your personal representatives and professional advisers as is required for purposes of rendering tax or
legal advice, and, with respect to such personal representatives and professional advisers, you shall inform them of your obligations hereunder and take all
reasonable steps to ensure that such professional advisers do not disclose the existence or substance thereof. Further, you shall not, directly or indirectly,
remove or retain, and upon termination of employment for any reason you shall return to the Company, any records, computer disks or files, computer
printouts, business plans or any copies or reproductions thereof, or any information or instruments derived therefrom, arising out of or relating to the
business of the Company and its affiliates or obtained as a result of your employment by the Company.

 

16. Non-Solicitation/Non-Competition. Without the prior written consent of the Company, during the term of your employment with the Company and for a
period of twelve (12) months after the termination of your employment with the Company, either unilaterally by you or by the Company for Cause, you
shall not (i) become engaged in or otherwise become interested in a role that provides or intends to provide similar services in the geographical area which
you are serving currently; (ii) directly or indirectly solicit or assist any other person in soliciting any client of the Company with whom you had direct
professional contact during the twelve (12) months immediately prior to the termination of your employment with the Company and during which you
learned confidential information, or whose account you oversaw during your employment with the Company; (iii) directly or indirectly solicit, or assist any
other person in soliciting, any employee of the Company or its affiliates (as of your termination of employment with the Company) or any person who, as
of such date, was in the process of being recruited by the Company or its affiliates, or induce any such employee to terminate his or her employment with
the Company or its affiliates; or (iv) hire or assist another in hiring any employee of the Company or its affiliates who potentially possesses the Company or
its Affiliate’s Confidential Information for a position where the employee’s knowledge of such information might be relevant. The provisions of this
Section 16 shall be in addition to any restrictive covenants that are set forth in or otherwise required by Company benefit plans.

Each of the foregoing restrictions contained in this Section 16 constitutes an entirely separate and independent restriction on you and shall be read and
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construed independently of the other undertakings and agreements herein contained. You and the Company agree that the restrictions contained in this
Section 16 are reasonable in scope and duration and are necessary to protect the Company’s confidential information and other business interests. If any
provision of this Section 16 as applied to any party or to any circumstance is adjudged by an arbitrator or court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or
unenforceable, the same will in no way affect any other circumstance or the validity or enforceability of this Agreement. If any such provision, or any part
thereof, is held to be unenforceable because of the scope, duration or geographic area covered thereby, the parties agree that the court or arbitrator making
such determination will have the power to reduce the scope and/or duration and/or geographic area of such provision, and/or to delete or revise specific
words or phrases, and in its modified form, such provision will then be enforceable and will be enforced.

 

17. The parties agree and acknowledge that the breach of Section 15 or 16 will cause irreparable damage to the Company, and upon actual or threatened breach
of any provision of either section the Company will be entitled to seek from a court of competent jurisdiction immediate injunctive relief, specific
performance or other equitable relief without the necessity of posting a bond or other security and that this will in no way limit any other remedies which
the Company may have (including, without limitation, the right to seek monetary damages).

 

18. Other Legal Matters:
 

 
a. No Other Agreements/Obligations: You have advised the Company that your execution and performance of the terms of this Agreement do not and

will not violate any other agreement binding on you or the rights of any third parties and you understand that in the event this advice is not accurate
the Company will not have any obligation to you under this Agreement.

 

 
b. Negotiation of Agreement: You acknowledge that you negotiated the terms of this Agreement with the Company and that you enter into this

Agreement voluntarily.
 

 
c. Applicable Legal Standards: You will be an employee of the Company’s United States operations and agree that your employment with the Company

shall be governed by the laws of the United States of America and the State of Illinois.
 

 d. Waiver of Jury Trial: Each of the parties hereto irrevocably waives any and all rights to trail by jury in any legal proceeding arising out of your
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 employment or related to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby.
 

 
e. Notice: All notices and other communications under this Agreement shall be in writing to you at the above-referenced address or to the Company at

its Chicago Headquarters, directed to the attention of the General Counsel.
 

 

f. Full and Complete Agreement: This letter Agreement contains our entire understanding with respect to your employment and can be amended only
in writing and signed by the Chief Executive Officer or General Counsel. This Agreement supersedes any and all prior agreements, whether written
or oral, between you and the Company that are not specifically incorporated by reference herein. You and the Company specifically acknowledge
that no promises or commitments have been made that are not set forth in this letter.

 

 
g. Severability: If any provision of this Agreement or the application thereof is held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect other provisions or

applications of this Agreement that can be given effect without the invalid provision or application and, to such end, the provisions of this Agreement
are declared to be severable.

 

 
h. Survival of Provisions: The provisions of Sections 15 through 16 of this Agreement shall survive the termination of your employment with the

Company and the expiration or termination of this Agreement.
 

 
i. Entire Agreement: This Agreement and, with respect to Sections 8 and 9, your equity award agreements and governing equity award plans constitute

the entire agreement of the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof, and supersede all prior agreements and understandings of the
parties hereto, oral or written, with respect to the subject matter hereof.
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Stephen, I wish you all the best in your new role.

Sincerely,

L. Kevin Kelly

Chief Executive Officer

I hereby accept the terms and conditions of employment outlined in this Agreement.
 
/s/ Stephen W. Beard   May 18, 2011
Signature   Date

Copy:
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, L. Kevin Kelly, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Heidrick & Struggles International, Inc.;
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

 

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure

that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,

to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness

of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal

quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 

 
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely

to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 

 
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over

financial reporting.
 
Dated: August 1, 2011   /s/ L. Kevin Kelly

  L. Kevin Kelly
  Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Richard W. Pehlke, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Heidrick & Struggles International, Inc.;
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

 

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure

that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,

to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness

of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal

quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 

 
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely

to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 

 
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over

financial reporting.
 
Dated: August 1, 2011   /s/ Richard W. Pehlke

  Richard W. Pehlke
  (interim Chief Financial Officer)



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code)

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code), the
undersigned officer of Heidrick & Struggles International, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), does hereby certify that:

The Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2011 (the “Form 10-Q”) of the Company fully complies with the requirements of
section 13 (a) or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the information contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
Dated: August 1, 2011   /s/ L. Kevin Kelly

  L. Kevin Kelly
  Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code)

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code), the
undersigned officer of Heidrick & Struggles International, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), does hereby certify that:

The Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2011 (the “Form 10-Q”) of the Company fully complies with the requirements of
section 13 (a) or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the information contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
Dated: August 1, 2011   /s/ Richard W. Pehlke

  Richard W. Pehlke
  (interim Chief Financial Officer)


